Lesson 3

Adverbs of Place

Verbal predicates can be modified. The most common single-word modifiers are adverbs of place, time, and manner. This lesson will concentrate on adverbs of place.

	nika:n
	Indicates a space localized in reference to closeness to a point of reference. The reference can be anywhere from the point where are are located to the entire village where we live. Usually best translated as ‘here’.  
	Nika:n tomaxtitokeh.
	We are studying here.

	
	
	Nika:n tinemih, xkanah tiawih.
	Were are here, we are not going anywhere.

	na:n
	Same as above
	Na:n tose:wi:s(k)eh àchitsí:n.
	We will rest here for a little bit.

	na:nika / na:nyá:
	Toward a point of reference, which is usually the location of the speaker. Usually best translated as ‘over here’ or ‘toward here’.
	¡Na:nyá: xwa:hla!

	Come over here!

	ne:

ne:ika / ne:yá:
	Indicates a space or location that is visible. Often speakers will point to the place while uttering the phrase. Usually best translated as simply, ‘there.’
	¡Ne: xtlapaya:nati!
	Go grind maize over there (pointing)!

	
	Ne: can also be used with a specific named point of reference (in these cases the reference point is not visible and not pointed at)
	Ne: xkochiti ka:mpa Juan (= i:cha:n Juan).
	Go sleep there at Juan’s house.

	
	
	Ne: Oapan sa: tlakwa:w to:na.
	There in Oapan it’s really hot.

	
	
	¡Ne: i:cha:n Mimo, x’ka:wati!
	There at Mimo’s house, go drop it off!

	
	Indicates toward a space or location that is visible. The point of reference is indicating by finger pointing, a nod of the head, etc.
	¡Ne:yá: x’tla:li:ti silye:teh!
	Go place there chair over in that direction (pointing)!

	
	Ne:ika / ne:yá: can be used with a specific reference point (e.g., where X is located) though always within sight and indicated by pointing, a nod of the head, etc.
	¡Ne:ika xya, ka:mpa nemi Juan!
	Go over in that direction, where Juan is (a visible location).

	
	Ne:ika / ne:yá: can also be used without any particular reference with the sense that it is in a city or other urban area.
	I niaw ne:yá:, nontekipano:s.
	I’m going to a town, I’m going to work there.

	
	
	Ne:yá: nemi nona:n, xo:wa:hlah a:mani:n.
	My mother is there (in a town or city), she didn’t come today.

	ne:chka
	Same as ne:ika / ne:yá: but less common
	
	

	ta ne:pa
	Used to indicate a place that is visible, either close or far away. It is almost always combined with the Spanish borrowing ta (from hasta) indicating a place relatively not close to speaker. A good Spanish translation is ‘hasta allá (indicating a visible place)’. Note that if one is just giving an order to someone to take something and place it at a distance, one would use ¡Ne:yá: x’ka:wati! But if the person has already place the object down too close, one would correct the action stating  ¡Ta ne:pa x’ka:wati!
	Ta ne:pa tlachinahtok.
	The fields are burning way over there (a visible place)

	
	
	¡Ta ne:pa x’ka:wati!
	Go put it down over there! (e.g, a person is walking away and asking where to put something. If he indicates a place too close, one might say ¡Ta ne:pa x’ka:wati!

	napa

nepa
	Indicates a space that is not visible to speaker or addressee but is often understood. In certain instances the place may be visible but separated from speaker location by a barrier, such as a highway divider. In the case that the place is not understood from context or discourse, the addressee can ask for clarification.
	¡Napa x’ka:wati mopola:toh!
	Go take your plate over there (e.g., from a living room to the kitchen; indication that the destination is across a barrier, somehow separated from where speaker is located)!

	
	
	¡Napa xtlakwa:ti!
	Go eat over there (e.g., in another room)!

	napaika /napayá:

nepaika /nepayá:
	Indicates toward or in the direction of a space that is not visible to speaker of addressee but is often understood.
	¡Napayá: xwa:hkalaki, na:nyá: tlatsahtok!
	Come in over there, over here there is no opening!

	
	
	¡Nepaika x´tlàkalíti, ma: sa: nî:htlasto!
	Go through it out over there, I don’t want to be just looking at it!

	pa / mpa
	Indicates a place that is already a topic of reference in the discourse. Often best translated as ‘there’.
	Notah nemi México.

— ¿Niman ka:no:n tekiti?

No: pa tekiti.
	My father lives in Mexico City.

— Where does he work?

He works there too.

	
	
	Nona:n cha:nti México. ¿Ka:no:n cha:nti mona:n?

— Yo: no: mpa cha:nti.
	My mother lives in Mexico City. Where does your mother live?

— She also lives there.

	paika / payá:
	Indicates toward a place that is already a topic of reference in the discourse. Often best translated as “over there.”
	¿Tihmastok ka:no:n cha:nti Laura?

— Ke:mah.

Te:h, paika no: cha:nti Juana.
	Do you know where Laura lives?

— Yes.

Well, Juana also lives over that way.

	
	
	Topi:pih María payá: konxi:nia tlàsohlí.
	María goes to throw away the trash over that way (suggesting that there is a point of reference that is understand).

	pao:n / po:n / poo:n / mpao:n / mpo:n / mpoo:n
	Indicates “right over there.” There are subtle differences between ne: and pao:n (see below)

1) One cannot use ta with pao:n but can use ta with ne: (Ta ne: suggesting a visible place closeby  that is closer than would be the case if one were to use ne:. However, the distance is measured not simply in physical terms but also in sociospatial terms. 

Note that one case say, “¡Ne: x’tla:li:ti!” and then when the person is close but needs further instructions, saying “Pao:n” (right there)_
	Xta pao:n wa:hlaw Mimo, ¡x’tlàtó:ti yàwá!
	See, over there Mimo is coming, ask hiim!

	paya:o:n / paikao:n
	Indicates ‘over in that direction’ (in Spanish, ‘por ahí’) but indicating the area. For example, if a child leaves a house and the father sees what road he took but does not now anything else, he can answer “Paya:o:n o:yah nokone:w” ‘My child when over in that direction (indicating the road taken).
	¿Ka:nyá: o:yah Juan?

— Paya:o:n tlatsi:ntlah.
	Toward where did Juan go?

— He went 


Difference between ne: and pao:n:

1. One can use the Spanish borrowing ta (from hasta) with ne: but not with pao:n. Thus ¡Ta ne: xia! ‘Go right up to over there! but not, or only rarely, *Ta pao:n. This seems to be because pao:n indicates a place that is close.

2. One can tell someone sitting next to one, ¡Ne: x´ka:wati! or ¡Po:n x´ka:wa! Note that there is a tendency to use the directional -ti (away from a point of reference) with ne: and no directional (indicating an action that does not take place over a great distance).
3. If someone is told to take something a put it down at a distance, the order is usually “¡Ne: x´ka:wati!!” ‘Go leave it off over there! When the person so ordered approaches the area where the object is to be left, one says “¡Po:n x´ka:wa!” ‘Leave it right there!’ i.e., a point close to the addressee.

4. The difference between ¡Ne: wa:hlaw! and ¡Po:n wa:hlaw! is distance, with the first indicating more distance or, at least, not suggesting closeness. Thus is someone is coming home from the fields, ¡Ne: wa:hlaw! ‘S/he is coming over there’ but if someone is close by, e.g., in a household, ¡Po:n wa:hlaw! ‘S/he is coming, right there.’
Difference between adverbs without and with -o:n

The difference between forms such as paika and paikao:n, or between pa and pao:n is difficult to determine and will only be made more precise through textual analysis. But it appears that the forms without -o:n are used when the point of reference is already part of the discourse (i.e., is topic). The forms with -o:n are used for new information although the speaker will indicate the visible point of reference, usually by pointing or similar gestures. 


Thus is Juan arrives at Jorge’s house and ask Jorge where his daughter Maria went, Jorge can answer, pointing to a path, Paya:o:n nemi ‘She is off somewhere in that direction.’ But if Juan arrives at Jorge’s house and says, Ne:chihliah María nemi México ‘They told me that María is in Mexico City’ Jorge can answer Ke:mah paya: nemi ‘Yes, she’s somewhere over there’ (but not ?Paya:o:n nemi)
Combinations
	sampa 

(san + pa)
	‘Just right there!’

Indicates just in one place and nowhere else. 
	O:yah Juan ka:mpa Lauriano. Sampa o:tlakowato.


	Juan went to Lauriano’s place. He went shopping just there (and nowhere else)

	
	
	San Iguala o:nkah tlayo:hli.

— ¿Sampa?

Sampa kine.
	There is maize just in Iguala.

— Just there (and nowhere else)?

Just there, you know.

	sampao:n / sampoo:n / sampo:n

(san + pa + o:n)
	‘Just right there’ (in a place indicated in the mentioning). The difference between sampa and sampao:n is similar to the difference between paika and paikao:n (see above).
	¡Sampao:n x’tla:li, ma: sa: xtlama:mato!
	Put it down right there, don’t just stand there with a load on your back!

	sa:mpa

(sa: + mpa)
	‘Just there (but not at any greater distance)’ Unlike sampa, which indicates a single place, sa:mpa indicates a single place that is not as far as another implied location. 
	I:cha:n Juan xok waka konkwih a:tl. Sa:mpa kiki:xtiah i:tik pozo.
	There where Juan lives they no longer go far away to get water. They just extract it there, from a well.

	
	
	Ya:lwa o:tihno:stiki:skeh Juan. Niman o:pe:w kiawi, sa:mpa o:tikochkeh.
	Yesterday we stopped by to call on Juan. And then it started to rain and we just slept right there (i.e., did not go further, to our original destination).

	sa:mpao:n

(sa: + mpa + o:n)
	‘Just right there’ (in a place indicated in the mentioning).
	¡Sa:mpao:n x’tla:li, ma:ka ta ne: xia!
	Just put it down right there (indicating with a motion, don’t go any further!

	me:ro mpa (or pa kine)
	‘Right there!’  or ‘Exactly’. This is used to indicate that a precise location has been mentioned or selected or arrived at. Pa kine has the sense of pa, i.e., a place that has already been mentioned, and kine, with the sense of ‘that’s right’.
	¿Ka:no:n cha:nti Jorge, Cuernavaca?

— Me:ro mpa!
	Where does Jorge live, in Cuernavaca?

— Exactly!

	
	
	¿Kwako:n mo:stla tia:seh Koyola:pan?

— Pa kine. 
	So tomorrow are we going to Koyola:pan?

— There, indeed.

	tampa or tampa?

(ta + mpa)
	This incorporates a borrowing from Spanish (hasta) and indicates what in Spanish would be transated as ‘¡Hasta allá!’ In English a translation would be something like ‘that far!’ indicating amazement.
	Ya:lwa o:tî:kowitoh Mo:totla:n.

— ¡Simi tampa!
	Yesterday we went to chop wood at Mo:totla:n.

— Wow! that far!

	
	
	Toma:noh Silvestre kipia i:tla:l ta Xa:la:tlahko. Tampa onto:kani.
	Silvestre has his land far away at Xa:la:tlahko. He even plants there!

	no:mpa

(no: + mpa)
	‘There too’. Again this is used when there is a reference in the conversation to a given place.
	A:man no:mpa o:titlakwa:toh ka:mpa tàwa o:titlakwah.
	Today we also went to eat there where you ate.

	
	
	Nohni:wa:n no:mpa nemih ka:mpa notah.
	My siblings also live there where my father is.

	
	
	¿A:man i:n tei:nki, ¿ka:no:n nihtla:li:s?

— No:mpao:n ka:mpa xikipi:hli.
	Now this lose change, where should I put it?

— Over there, too, where there is a sack (with the implicit message that something else had already been put there).

	no:mpayá:

(no: + mpa + ika)
	‘Also over there in that direction’
	¿O:titlaka:wato A:molo:nka:n?

— Ke:mah.

A:man sàpa se: nika:n nemi bu:rroh, no:mpayá: x’ka:wati.
	Did you go leave animals out to graze at A:molo:nka:n?

— Yes.

Now another burro here, also go there to leave it out to graze.

	
	
	Ma:noh, xok tlawe:i ne:yá: ka:mpa o:nitlâ:ka:wato. ¿Ka:no:n nihtla:li:s i:n?

— ¡Ma:si no:mpayá: x’ka:wati!
	There is no longer any space over there where I dropped things off. Where should I put this?

— Whatever, also go leave it off over in that direction.

	no:nkwah
	‘Separately’ or ‘In a separate location’
	¿Ok cha:nti i:wa:n i:tah noso san no:nkwah nemi?
	Does he still live with his father or does he live separately?

	
	
	¡No:nkwah x’tla:li yo: yenkwik!
	Place what is new separately!

	nónoká / nowia:n / nochka:n
	‘Everywhere’ ‘All over’
	Nònoka o:nkah sempwalxo:chitl.
	There are marigolds everywhere.

	
	
	Nowia:n kìki:stími.
	He goes around all over.


Difference between san and sa:

The difference between these two adverbs is subtle. San indicates only, in the sense of one place or item and can often be so translated into English. Sa: indicates only a reduced state or a goal not achieved. Compare the following:

	San o:me nokone:w.
	I just have two children.
	Suggesting that speaker might want more.

	Sa: o:me nokone:w.
	I have just two children left.
	Suggesting that speaker had more children, but only two survive.

	San kwalka:n tekiti.
	He just works in the morning.
	With no suggestion that he ever worked at other times.

	Sa: kwalka:n tekiti.
	He’s gotten to the stage where he just works mornings.
	Suggesting that speaker used to work the whole day but can no longer do so.


	ni:sik
	nearby
	¡San ni:sik xmotla:li!
	Just sit down closeby!

	wàká / wèká
	far away 
	Waka cha:nti.
	S/he lives far away.

	kia:wak
	outside
	¡Ma totla:li:ka:n kia:wak!
	Let’s sit outside!

	kàlitík
	inside (a house)
	Kàlitik kóchi.
	S/he sleeps inside the house.

	tlahpak
	high up
	Tlahpak pata:ni to:to:tl.
	Birds fly high up (in the sky).

	tlatsi:ntlah
	down below
	Tlatsi:ntlah nicha:nti.
	I live down below (e.g., on the first flour).

	tlapani
	a high point (but without any specific point of reference, cf. kwa:tipan)
	Tlapani tiá:s, i:kwa:tipan Miswe:weh.
	You will go to a high point, on top of Miswe:weh (a hill).


Lesson 4

Adverbs of Time

Verbal predicates can be modified. The most common single-word modifiers are adverbs of place, time, and manner. This lesson will concentrate on adverbs of time.

days from the present forward and backward

	a:mani:n
	today; probably
	A:mani:n tia:s(k)eh tepe:k.
	Today we will go to the hills.

	
	
	A:mani:n tonmî:xtlama:s(k)eh.
	Today we are going to go fishing.

	
	
	A:mani:n yò:yekók.
	He’s probably already arrived.

	mo:stla
	tomorrow
	Mo:stla tô:nkowís(k)eh.
	Tomorrow we will go to chop wood.

	
	
	Mo:stla tia:s(k)eh Iguala.
	Tomorrow we’ll go to Iguala.

	wi:ptla
	the day after tomorrow
	Wi:ptla xok tomaxti:s(k)eh.
	The day after tomorrow we won’t study anymore.

	
	
	Wi:ptla no:no:tsas notah.
	The day after tomorrow I’m going to give my father a call.

	ina:hyo:pan
	the day after the day after tomorrow / the day before the day before yesterday (depending on the tense of the verb)
	Ina:hyo:pan tiwa:le:was(k)eh Chilapa.
	The day after the day after tomorrow we will come back from Chiapa.

	a:man chikwe:i
	a week from today (in the past or future, depending on the verbal tense)
	A:man chikwe:i yèkos notah.
	My father will arrive in a week.

	a:man kaxto:hli
	a fortnight from today (in the past or future, depending on the verbal tense)
	A:man kaxto:hli ki:salo:s.
	In a fortnight school will end.

	ya:lwa
	yesterday
	Ya:lwa ò:yekáh mi:hlan. 
	Yesterday they went to the corn fields (and they have returned).

	
	
	Ya:lwa ò:yakéh mi:hlan.
	Yesterday they went to the corn fields (and they have not returned.

	
	
	Ta ya:lwa xi nitlakwa.
	I haven’t eaten since yesterday.

	i wi:ptla
	the day before yesterday
	I wi:ptla tia:s(k)iah Iguala, ma:ka sa: a:mani:n. 
	The day before yesterday we should have gone to Iguala, not just today.

	
	
	I wi:ptla o:pe:w to:ka Silvestre.
	Silvestre started planting they day before yesterday.

	ina:hyo:pan
	the day after the day after tomorrow / the day before the day before yesterday
	Ina:hyo:pan o:yah nona:n Cuernavaca.
	My mother went to Cuernavaca the day before the day before yesterday.

	a:man chikwe:i
	a week from today (in the past or future, depending on the verbal tense)
	A:man chikwe:i ò:tiekah México.
	A week ago we went to Mexico City (and have since returned).

	a:man kaxto:hli
	a fortnight from today (in the past or future, depending on the verbal tense)
	A:man kaxto:hli o:tito:kakeh.
	Two weeks ago we planted (our cornfields).


Note the difference between san a:mani:n and sa: a:mani:n. San a:mani:n means ‘only today’. For example, San a:mani:n kinamakas(k)eh pola:n ‘They will sell bananas only today’ (there is no suggestion that they sold at any other time in the past, certainly not recently. But cf. to Sa: a:mani:n kinamakas(k)eh pola:n, ‘They will be selling bananas only today (i.e., the last day of the sale, they had sold yesterday, perhaps the day before, etc., but today it will end). 

times of the day

Note that often ya: (ika) is used to indicate ‘during’ or ‘at.’ Thus whereas to:nahli is ‘sun’ ya: to:nahli is ‘during the day’. Whereas tio:tlak is ‘afternoon’ ya: tio:tlak is ‘in the afternoon’, and whereas yewahli is ‘night’, ya: yewahli is in the night or ‘at night’. The times below with an asterik mark are those that do not accept a preceding ya:, probably because the time specified is of a shorter duration. Note also that in many cases the meaning with and without ya: is virtually equivalent: Mo:stla ya: tio:tlak tia:s(k)eh ‘We will go tomorrow during the afternoon’ vs. Mo:stla tio:tlak tia:s(k)eh, ‘We will go tomorrow afternoon.’

	*saniman / sanimantsi:n
	early in the morning
	Xo:pantlah sanimantsi:n wa:hki:sa to:nahli.
	In the summer the sun rises early.

	
	
	Wi:ptla saniman tonomaxti:skeh.
	The day after tomorrow we will go study early in the morning.

	
	
	¡Sanimantsi:n xmokote:wa!
	Wake up very early in the morning!

	
	
	To:to:tl yo:n sanimantsi:n nokote:wa, kwahli kasi kwilin.
	The early bird catches the worm.

	*tlane:stok
	at dawn
	Sa: tlane:stok tia:s(k)eh.
	We will go when it is just dawining.

	san tlachipa:htok
	just after dawn
	San tlachipa:htok tone:was(k)eh.
	We’ll head out just after dawn (as the earth is getting light).

	kwalka:n
	in the morning; early tomorrow in the morning
	San kwalka:n i tlâ:chpa:ntinémi.
	Early in the morning s/he is already going around sweeping.

	
	
	Tia:s(k)eh kwalka:n.
	We will leave tomorrow early in the morning.

	
	
	Sa:yá: kwalka:n tekiti. 
	It is just in the morning that s/he works.

	*tlakwalispan
	midday, noon (10 am to 2 pm)
	Tlakwalispan titlakwa:s(k)eh.
	We will eat at midday.

	
	
	Tlakwalispan pe:wa to:nati. 
	At midday it starts to get hot.

	*tlàkokáh
	midday
	Tlákokáh o:tone:hkeh. 
	We headed out at midday.

	tio:tlak
	afternoon (2 pm to the sunset)
	Ta tio:tlak tiki:sas(k)eh.
	We won’t leave until the afternoon.

	
	
	Mo:stla (ya:) tio:tlak tontlakowas(k)eh.
	Tomorrow afternoon we will go shopping.

	sa: pitentsi:n to:nahli /

sa: tepe:i:xko to:nahli
	at dusk, close to sunset.
	Sa: pitentsi:n to:nahli tô:ka:was(k)eh.
	We will finish up when the sun is close to setting.

	tlaiwa
	last night 
	Tlaiwa o:yekok.
	S/he arrived yesterday evening.

	ya: tlaiwa
	at night (after sunset) 
	Ya: tlaiwa kochih piomeh.
	In the evening the chickens go to sleep.

	
	
	Ya: tlaiwa ki:sa me:stli.
	In the evening the moon comes up.

	tlàkoíwa:n
	midnight
	Tlàkoíwa:n kwahli ne:s si:tlalin.
	At midnight the stars are clearly visible.

	
	
	Tlàkoíwa:n o:pe:w kiawi.
	At midnight it started to rain.

	ya: to:nahli
	during the day
	Ya: to:nahli tomaxtiah.
	During the day we study.

	ya: yewahli
	at night
	Ya: yewahli tikochih.
	At night we sleep. 


adjectives of time
	a:mantsi:n
	in a moment (i.e., in a very short time)
	A:mantsi:n nimitspale:wi:s.
	I’ll help you in a moment.

	
	
	A:mantsi:n pa niaw.
	I’ll be there in a moment.

	san te:tepitsi:n
	in a while (e.g., in an hour or two)
	San te:tepitsi:n nime:chonitas.
	I’ll go visit you soon 

	hma:ya / hma:yatsi:n 
	in the afternoon (measured from the morning); later in the afternoon (if already in the afternoon) 
	Ta hma:yatsi:n tô:ka:wás(k)eh.
	In the afternoon we will finish up for the day (i.e., a task)

	ya:wa / ya:watsi:n
	a short time ago
	Ya:watsi:n o:titlàkwakéh, xok ta:pismikih.
	We ate a short time ago, we are no longer hungry.

	kàmách (with past tense verb)
	just a very short time ago 
	Kàmach o:yah i:cha:n.
	He just left for home.

	kàmách (with future tense verb)
	just now (with the sense that the activity should have already occurred)
	Kàmach nina:lti:s, ¡xne:xchia!
	I’m just now about to bathe, wait for me!

	kàmach ki yá:
	for the first time
	Kamach ki ya: nô:nkowís.
	For the first time I will go chop wood.

	
	
	Kamach ki ya: ya:lwa o:kiaw.  
	Yesterday it rained for the first time (this season).

	ikwa:k kamach ki yá:
	the first time (when)
	Ikwa:k kamach ki ya: ò:nekok xnikàsika:matíya.
	When I came for the first time, I didn’t understand.

	san kin a:man / san a:man
	just (barely a short while ago)
	San kin a:man o:yah.
	S/he just left.

	sa: i yá:
	for the last time
	Sa: i ya: o:nimitspachiwi:ti:ko.
	I’ve come to say goodbye to you for the last time.

	ikwa:k sa: i yá:
	the last time (when)
	Ikwa:k sa: i ya: o:nikitak, kwalowa:ya.
	The last time I saw him, he was sick.

	ikwa:k ya: o:hpa

(— ya: yex:pa; third)

(— ya: na:hpa; fourth)
	the second time (when)
	Ikwa:k ya: o:kpa o:nikitak, xok o:ne:chno:ts.
	When I saw him the second time, he didn’t speak to me anymore.

	kichiá:, kochiá:, ‘chiá:

(here basically equivalent to xto:pa)
	first
	Kichiá: ma nina:lti, sa: tla: i kwahli tia:s(k)eh.
	First let me bathe, then we will go.

	kichiá:, kochiá:, ‘chiá:
	while, meanwhile
	Kichiá: ma nina:lti, to: xtlàkwató.
	While I bathe, you eat (be eating).

	
	
	¡Kichiá: xtlami, ma nitlàkwató!
	While you finish up, I’ll be eating!

	
	
	Ta kichiá: xi tlami, nawa nihpe:walti:s.
	Not until he finishes up will I begin it.

	xto:pa

(here basically equivalent to kichiá:)
	first 
	Xto:pa yo: ma ya, no: sa: nihtokas.
	Let him go first, I will just follow.

	san kin a:man / san a:man
	just (barely a short while ago)
	San kin a:man o:yah.
	S/he just left.

	ìkwà:k
	when
	Ikwa:k tasis(k)eh México, tô:xeló:skeh
	When we arrive in Mexico City, we will split up.

	xkaman
	never
	Xkaman tiaweh Acapulco.
	We never go to Acapulco.

	
	
	Xkaman nokwala:nia notah i:wa:n nona:n.
	My father never gets angry at my mother.

	weliá:
	before (usually followed by a verb in the past or future tense)
	Weliá: ò:nasík, yò:meh yo:tlankeh.
	Before I arrived, they has already finished.

	
	
	Weliá: ò:nasík, yò:meh ì yatókeh, ta ne: i tlakwelpàchotókeh.
	Before I arrived, they were already on their way, they had even arrived there and were turning off to the side.

	
	
	Weliá: nèkós, yo:titlan.
	Before I arrive, you will already have finished.

	
	
	Weliá: tàsís, yò:meh yo:pe:hkeh.
	Before you arrive, they will have started.

	weliá: tepitsi:n
	a short time later
	Weliá: tepetsi:n, yò:yekók.
	A short time later, he had arrived.

	a:ntes
	before
	A:ntes nontekitis, ninà:ltité:wa.
	Before I go off to work, I’ll bathe.

	tla: i kwahli
	afterwards (e.g, after finishing a given task)
	Tontekipano:s(k)eh, tla: i kwahli i tiwa:hlaweh.
	We are going to work, and when we are finished we will come back.

	ok
	still
	Ok ta:pismiki.
	Are you still hungry?

	xok
	not anymore
	Xok niá:s, yo:nisiaw.
	I’m not going to go anymore, I’ve gotten tired.

	i
	to be on the verge of
	I titlamis(k)eh.
	We are on the verge of finishing.

	xi
	not yet
	Xi weli noteketsa.
	S/he still can’t stand up (e.g., a little child).

	torabié: (from Sp. todavía)
	still
	Torabié: kwahli nènemí
	S/he still walks well.

	ìská:n / ìská:ntsi:n / ìská:pan
	immediately, right away, soon
	Ìska:pantsi:n kinekih tomi:ntsi:n
	They (e.g., those engaging in a collection) want the money immediately.

	
	
	Kàmach o:tiwa:htlàkwaté:hkeh, ¿a:man sàpa ìska:pan titlakwa:s?
	We just ate before heading out here, and now once again you will eat right away? 

	xìská:n
	not soon
	Nika:n nimischiatoya, niman ni:n xìska:n ò:tekók
	I’ve been waiting for you here and you didn’t arrive right away.

	
	
	Xìska:n titlamis(k)eh.
	We won’t finish any time soon.

	ma: i:sah / ma:ka i:sah / ma: ki:sah 

(*ma:ka ki:sah)
	not so quickly
	¡Ma: i:sah, yo:li:k ma tike:hchi:waka:n!
	Not so quickly, let’s fix it slowly!

	
	
	¡Ma: ki:sah xia:n, xtlàkwate:wáka:n! 
	Don’t you all go so quickly, eat before heading out!

	ikwá:ko:n
	then, at that time
	Ikwa:ko:n tasiskeh, deki yo:kalahkeh tio:pan
	We will arrive then, when they have already entered the church.

	sàpatsí:n
	once
	Sàpatsi:n o:nieka México.
	I went to Mexico City once (and only once).

	o:hpa
	twice
	Simi ta o:hpa o:tikono:ts (o:to:no:ts) motah a:mani:n.
	It’s been two times that you’ve called your father today!

	ye:xpa
	three times
	Ne:yá: ye:xpa tlakwa:lo i:pan se: to:nahli.
	There (in the cities) there are three meals a day.

	na:hpa
	four times
	A:mani:n ta na:hpa o:mí:ste:mo:ko mona:n.
	Today four whole times your mother has come looking for you.

	nochipa
	all the time
	Nochipa toná:panowah a:pan.
	We always go to the river to swim.

	kamantika / kamayá:n 
	sometimes, once in a while 
	Kamantika nikoni ma:si san se: cerveza.
	Sometimes I drink albeit only one beer.

	
	sometime, one of these days (with a verb in the future)
	Kamantika tia:skeh Miswè:wetítlan.
	One of these days we will go to the mountain Miswe:weh.

	àsis to:nahli ìkwá:k
	there will come the day
	Àsis to:nahli ikwa:k tiwelis Mejika:noh.
	There will come the day when you can speak Nahuatl.


Cf.
	saniman
	quickly
	Saniman tlamis.
	He will finish in a hurry (quickly).


Note the difference between kàmách (and a future tense verb) and san te:tepitsi:n. The former seems to convey the implication that a given activity should have occurred but didn’t and that the subject recognizes it and is about to undertake it. The second simply conveys the idea that the activity will occur in the near future. Thus if it is 3:00 pm and someone is asked if they have eaten, they would respond Kàmach nitlákwa:s ‘I’m just getting around to eating!’ But if the same person is asked, let’s say, at 10:00 am, when it is is clear that mealtime has still not arrived, the response would be San te:tepetsi:n nitlakwa:s ‘I will eat in a while.’


There is no clear difference between kàmách and san (kin) a:man used with a past tense verb to indicate an action that just now, a short time ago, occurred.

repeated times
	sè: momó:stla / mómó:stla


	every day, daily
	Sè: momó:stla yawih tio:pan nomàxtikéh.
	The cantors go to church every day.

	sè wiwí:ptla / wiwí:ptla
	every other day
	Sè wiwí:ptla tonkomo:chî:tekih.
	Every other day we go out to pick huamuchil.

	chi:chikwe:i to:nahli
	every week
	Chi:chikwe:i niaw Cuernavaca, nonomaxtia.
	Once every week I go to Cuernavaca, I go to study.
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